
IN THE UNITED STATES COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF UTAH 

CENTRAL DMSION 

UNlTED STATES OF AMERICA, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

BRENT CROXFORD, 

Defendant. 

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND 
ORDER FINDING APPLICATION 
OF THE FEDERAL SENTENCING 
GUIDELINES 
UNCONSTITUTIONAL 

Case No. 2:02-CR-00302PGC 

Defendant Brent Croxford is before the court for sentencing on the offense of sexual 

exploitation of a child in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2251(a). For more than fifteen years, 

sentencings such as Croxford's have been governed by the federal sentencing guidelines. Last 

Thursday, however, the United States Supreme Court ruled that portions of the State of 

Washington's sentencing guidelines were unconstitutional. The Court held that Washington's 

guidelines scheme deprived a defendant of his Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial by 

increasing his presumptive sentence based on a judge's, rather than a jury's, factual findings 

regarding sentencing factors. Because the federal sentencing guidelines suffer from the same 

constitutional infirmity, the court holds that, as applied to this case, the federal sentencing 



guidelines are unconstitutional and cannot govern defendant Croxford's sentencing. Because of 

the potentially cataclysmic implications of such a holding, the reasoning underlying thls 

conclusion will be set out at some length. 

I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

On November 21,2001, a case worker, Lori Thomassen, from the Division of Family 

Services called detective Craig Ellertson of the South Jordan Police Department. Thomassen 

advised Ellertson that a young girl, who the court will refer to as "C.C.," had disclosed that her 

adoptive father was taking inappropriate photographs of her.' At the time of the hearing, C.C. 

was approximately eight or nine years old.' Shortly after this telephone conversation, Ellertson, 

along with Thomassen and another officer, went over to the Croxford residence to investigate the 

matter. Upon arrivmg at the Croxfords, Mr. and Mrs. Croxford granted Ellertson and Thomassen 

permission to interview C.C. alone.3 

During the interview, C.C. told Ellertson and Thomassen that Croxford was takmg nude 

photos of her with a &gital camera. C.C. described the sexually explicit poses and the things that 

Croxford, her adoptive father asked her to do in the  photograph^.^ C.C. also explained that she 

thought that Croxford was putting them on the Internet and that she thought Croxford had taken 

See Transcript of Hearing on Motion to Suppress, August 8 and 9,2002 at 8 ("Transcript"). 

See id. at 12. 

See id. at 9-11. 

See id. at 12-13. 



similar photos of another young girl who had previously been a foster child in the Croxford 

home.' 

After Ellertson and Thomassen had interviewed C.C., Ellertson requested that Croxford 

accompany him to the police station for questioning. During an interview with Ellertson, 

Croxford explained that he had taken "bathtub" photographs of C.C.6 Croxford also confirmed 

that he owned a Sony digital camera, was an Internet provider for certain customers, and that he 

repaired and worked on computers in his home. At the conclusion of the interview, in response 

to questions about taking sexually explicit pictures of C.C., Croxford did not deny that he had 

taken such pictures, and stated "I meant to delete all of those" and "You should take me out and 

shoot me."7 

Ellertson obtained a search warrant for Croxford's home. During the execution of the 

search warrant, officers discovered several computer diskettes in a file cabinet which contained 

sexually explicit pictures of C.C.' Upon examination of Croxford's computer equipment it was 

discovered that Croxford had downloaded thousands of pornographic images, including child 

pornography.9 It was further discovered that the defendant had DVD disks containing 

' See id. at 13-14. 

Transcript at 20. 

Id. at 20-21. 

' See id. at 26. 

See Government's Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant's Motion to Dismiss at 4. 

3 



photographs of C.C. and a previous foster child of the defendant, "A.M.," posing in lewd 

positions. 

On May 16,2002, a federal grand jury retuned a two-count indictment against Croxford. 

Count I charged sexual exploitation of a minor, in violation of 18 U.S.C 5 2251(a). Count n 

charged possession of child pornography, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 5 2252A(a)(5)(B). The 

defendant was arraigned on May 30, and thereafter filed a motion to suppress the evidence 

against him. Following an evidentiary heanng and additional time for briefing requested by the 

parties, the c o w  denied the motion to suppress in a memorandum decision on October 10,2002. 

Thereafter, the defendant requested additional time in which to consider entering a guilty plea 

and to file additional motions challenging the indictment. Because a guilty plea would avoid the 

need for C.C. to testify, the court granted the additional time and set a new trial date of April 23, 

2003. However, shortly before the trial was to begin, the court was notified by the probation 

office that the defendant had dlsappeared. On April 7,2003, the court issued a warrant for the 

defendant's arrest. On April 15, 2003, the defendant was found in Knoxville, Tennessee, after an 

apparent suicide attempt. The defendant was placed in U.S. Marshal custody and transferred 

back to the District of Utah. 

On May 16,2003, based on the suicide attempt, the court ordered a psychological and 

psychiatric examination. The defendant was then transferred to Springville, Missouri, where he 

was detamed until December 17,2003. The psychiatric examination concluded that the 

defendant was competent to stand trial. After his return to Utah, on February 25,2004, the 

defendant entered into a plea agreement with the government, pleading guilty to Count I of the 



indictment while Count 1T was dismissed. The plea agreement contemplated that the sentence 

would fall within a Guidelines range of 121 to 151 months. 

The probation office then prepared a pre-sentence report in the matter, including 

calculations under the federal sentencing guidelines. This court noticed that missing from the 

pre-sentence report was a recommendation for a two-level enhancement for obstruction of justice 

based upon Croxford's fleeing of the jurisdiction shortly before trial. After an amendment which 

added the obstruction of justlce enhancement, the final pre-sentence report concluded that the 

defendant should be sentenced under the Guidelines at an offense level of 34 and a criminal 

history of I, which produces a Guidelines sentence of between 151-188 months. 

The probation office arrived at this conclusion in four steps. First, the office calculated 

the guidelines for the sexual exploitation of the victim identified in the indictment: C.C. The 

base offense level for this offense was 27, increased by four levels because the victim was under 

the age of twelve, increased a further two levels because the defendant was a parent, relative, or 

legal guardian of the victim, and increased a further two levels because the defendant obstructed 

justice by absconding before trial.'' This produced a total adjusted offense level of 35. 

As a second step, the office calculated guidelines for another young victim the defendant 

had photographed: A.M. Although the defendant had not been charged in the indictment with 

exploiting A.M., his victimization of her was part of the "relevant conduct" for determining his 

'O See U.S.S.G. 5 3Cl.l.  






































































